IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

OLD PORT COVE HOLDINGS, INC., Case No. 07-1032 and OLD PORT COVE EQUITIES, INC.,

4DCA Case No.: 4D05-3601

Petitioners,

V.

OLD PORT COVE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION ONE, INC.,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review From a Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

MAILING ADDRESS: JACK J. AIELLO NICOLE K. ATKINSON GUNSTER, YOAKLEY & STEWART, P.A. 777 S. Flagler Drive, Suite 500 East West Palm Beach, FL 33401 561-650-0716 Attorneys for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

In this appeal, the Property Owners seek review of the Fourth DCA's decision reversing the trial court's ruling that the subject agreement was void *ab initio* and created no real property interest in favor of the Association. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court because the Fourth DCA correctly certified conflict with <u>Fallschase Development Corp. v. Blakey</u>, 696 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

In February, 1977, OPCI Joint Venture and the Association entered into the agreement at issue ("the Agreement"). (App. C; P. Ex. 9) The Agreement purported to grant the Association a right of first refusal for the purchase of a parcel of real property known as "Parcel 16." (Id.) On November 3, 1977, the Agreement was recorded in the Public Records of Palm Beach County, Florida. (Id.) It is undisputed that the Agreement, on its face, purports to create a right of first refusal of *unlimited duration*. (T 187/25-188/2; R8-1477; Assoc. IB at 5) The Agreement provides, in pertinent part:

In the event that OPCI elects to sell the real property described on Exhibit A which is attached hereto and by reference made a part hereof, other than to the persons or corporations which form the OPCI Joint Venture, or to any corporation or other entity owned or controlled by OPCI or by any member of said Joint Venture, or a successor or successors "to the interest of any member in the Joint Venture," the Association shall have the right of first refusal for the purchase of said real property upon the same terms and conditions as are proposed for its sale and purchase by OPCI, said right of first refusal to be exercised by the Association within thirty (30) days following written notice to it of such proposed sale, following which said right of first refusal shall terminate.

(App. C, pp. 1-2; P. Ex. 9, pp. 1-2)

The Property Owners, Petitioners here, are the successors in interest to the OPCI Joint Venture and are the current owners of Parcel 16. (R 12-2293)

In or about 1999, the Property Owners began to consider the possibility of selling all of their properties, including the properties that they owned in the Old Port Cove Development, such as the office building, the North Marina, the South Marina, the Yacht Club, and the corresponding parking areas. (T14: 37/23-38/7; 32/17-33/3) Parcel 16 is the parking lot for the North Marina. (T14: 36/23-37/6) While considering the possible sale of the properties, the Property Owners came across the Agreement. (T14: 37/23-38/17) After reviewing it, the Property Owners concluded that the Agreement was void *ab initio* because it violated the common law rule against perpetuities and was, therefore, of no effect. (T14: However, when the issue was brought to the 39/13-23; R 12-2293-94) Association's attention, the Association took the position that the Agreement was valid and that it continued to provide a valid right of first refusal for Parcel 16. (T14: 40/1-20)

In order to be able to sell the integral parking lot with the marina, the Property Owners brought this action in October, 2002, seeking a declaration from the court that the Agreement was void. (T14: 40/21-41/5; R1-1) In the action, the Property Owners sought both declaratory relief and to quiet title to Parcel 16. (R1-1) The Association filed an amended answer and counterclaim. (R12-2202-2238) In their Amended Answer, the Association raised a number of defenses. (Id.) In their Counterclaim, the Association sought a declaratory judgment that the Agreement is valid and enforceable and, alternatively, sought reformation of the Agreement, pursuant to § 689.225, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (Id.)

On March 14, 2003, Counter-Defendant, Llywd Ecclestone, disclaimed any and all interest in the Agreement and agreed to be bound by any adjudication by the trial court and any subsequent appeals that may be taken, specifically reserving only his right to participate in the event that any party files a motion, action or other pleading seeking monetary damages against him. (R12-2294) On July 15, 2003, the trial court entered a default in favor of the Association on its claims against Counter-Defendant, Acer Holdings. (R12-2295)

Trial was held before the Honorable Amy Smith, Palm Beach County Circuit Court judge, on August 15 and 16, 2005. (T1-252) The trial court entered final judgment on September 7, 2005, in favor of the Property Owners and against the Association on the claims for declaratory relief and to quiet title. (App. B) The trial court also denied all relief sought in the Association's Counterclaim. (Id.) The court pointed out that the Association's representative admitted that the Agreement purported to create "an unlimited duration for the exercise of the right of first refusal," and ruled that a corporation, such as the Association, cannot be used as a measuring life in being for purposes of the rule against perpetuities, such that the Agreement violated the rule against perpetuities and was void *ab initio*. (App. B, p. 4) The trial court also addressed the Association's affirmative defenses and ruled that none of them were or could be established. (App. B, pp. 4-13)

The Association appealed to the Fourth DCA. The Fourth DCA relied upon a 1980 decision of this Court not cited by either of the parties in this case, <u>Iglehart</u> <u>v. Phillips</u>, 383 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1980), concluding that the case was authority for the inapplicability of the rule against perpetuities to a right of first refusal. (App. A, pp. 2-3, 6-7) The Fourth DCA further examined the decision relied upon by the Property Owners, <u>Fallschase Development Corp. v. Blakey</u>, 696 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). The Fourth DCA concluded that the analysis of the <u>Fallschase</u> court was flawed or incomplete and, therefore, rejected that decision. (App. A, pp. 5-6) The Fourth DCA reversed the trial court's decision and certified conflict with <u>Fallschase</u> to this Court. (App. A, p. 7)

The Property Owners petitioned this Court, and jurisdictional briefs were filed. This Court accepted jurisdiction of this case on October 30, 2007.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly determined that the Agreement was void on its face and therefore created no interest in the real property at issue in favor of the Association. The Agreement violated the rule against perpetuities as it existed at the time of execution by purporting to create a right of first refusal for the purchase of Parcel 16 of *unlimited duration*. There is no doctrine of law that can cure that defect or resurrect an instrument that was void *ab initio*.

The Fourth DCA disagreed with the trial court's decision in two ways, neither of which can be reconciled with the <u>Fallschase</u> decision or with the law in existence at the time of the Agreement. The District Court's conclusion that a right of first refusal vests at the moment of the agreement and, therefore, does not violate the rule against perpetuities, misapprehends the nature of a right of first refusal. It is well settled that a right of first refusal remains inchoate and does not vest until the property owner offers the property for sale. Therefore, a right of first refusal is a nonvested property interest and is subject to the rule against perpetuities. The Fourth DCA's other basis for decision, that Florida's codification of the rule against perpetuities applies retroactively to revive the right of first refusal, is also directly contrary to the <u>Fallschase</u> court's analysis and conclusion that the statute may not be applied retroactively to resurrect an interest that was

void *ab initio*. Therefore, the present case presents an express and direct conflict which is properly presented to this Court.

The defenses argued on appeal by the Association were correctly ruled by the trial court to be invalid. First, the Association argued, and the Fourth DCA agreed, that the Property Owners failed to state a cause of action because the common law rule against perpetuities was abolished in 2000 by Florida Statutes § 689.225. However, that argument fails because the Agreement was executed in February, 1977, long before the statute abolished the common law rule. Because the Agreement was a nullity in 1977, no later enacted statute has any impact. In other words, because the Agreement was void, rather than voidable, there was nothing to revive when the statute was enacted. Moreover, the statute provides that it only applies to nonvested property interests created on or after October 1, 1988. In addition, based upon the law relating to the retroactive application of a statute affecting substantive rights, there is no valid argument that the later-enacted statute at issue here can or should be applied retroactively to change the status of an instrument executed twenty-three years before the statute was enacted. Not only does the statute at issue fail to satisfy the requirements for legislatively-intended retroactivity, but even if it did, it would not be constitutionally permissible to apply the statute retroactively because it affects substantive property rights.

The Association's alleged defenses of laches, equitable estoppel, and waiver are likewise invalid. Under the law, no amount of delay and no representation by a party can create an interest in real property where none existed based upon an instrument that was void *ab initio*. Thus, the defenses are *legally* insufficient. In addition, as the trial court explained, the Association offered no evidence that could satisfy the elements of the defenses. Therefore, the defenses were also *factually* insufficient.

Finally, the trial court properly determined that the Association is not entitled to reformation of the Agreement. That is so for the same reason that applies to the other defenses: that the instrument was void *ab initio* and created no interest at all. It is undisputed that the plain language of the Agreement established an intent to create a right of first refusal of *unlimited duration*. Therefore, there is no mutual mistake of fact to be reformed as between the parties. The court cannot cure a void instrument where the instrument effectuates the parties' intent, and the court may not rewrite the instrument for the parties after the fact, supplying its own terms, to create an interest in property where none existed.

As the <u>Fallschase</u> court recognized, the part of the statute that addresses reformation *does* evince a Legislative intention to apply the reformation part of the statute retroactively. The <u>Fallschase</u> court determined that it would be improper to do that and concluded that the statute should not be applied retroactively.

However, if this Court concludes that it is proper to apply that part of the statute retroactively, then the law for reforming a right of first refusal that otherwise violates the rule against perpetuities must be applied. The Fourth DCA did not provide instructions to the trial court about reforming the Agreement. Nevertheless, if reformation is appropriate, the rule that typically applies when a corporation purports to be the measuring life in being should be enforced. Based upon that rule, if the property interest, the right of refusal here, did not vest within 21 years of the grant of that interest, it is no longer valid. Because the right of refusal in this case did not vest within 21 years after it was granted in 1977, this Court may alternatively determine that the interest is no longer valid.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>

The issues of whether the Agreement was void *ab initio*, whether a right of first refusal creates an immediately-vested interest, and whether Florida's codified version of the rule against perpetuities applies retroactively, raise questions of law which are reviewed by this Court *de novo*. <u>Operation Rescue v. Women's Health</u> <u>Center, Inc.</u>, 626 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1993). The issue of the legal sufficiency of the Association's defenses raise questions of law that are also reviewed by this Court *de novo*. Id.

II. <u>THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN</u> <u>REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT THE</u> <u>AGREEMENT WAS VOID AB INITIO</u>

A. <u>The Trial Court Properly Ruled That The Agreement Was Void</u> <u>Ab Initio Because It Violated the Common Law Rule Against</u> <u>Perpetuities</u>

There is no dispute as to the few facts that are relevant to the determination of this case. First, as set forth above, the Agreement purported to create a right of first refusal in favor of the Association for the purchase of Parcel 16 of *unlimited duration*. Second, the Agreement was executed in 1977.

In 1977, Florida's rule against perpetuities was set forth in the common law. The common law rule against perpetuities is typically stated as follows: "No interest is good unless it must vest, if at all, not later than twenty-one years after some life in being at the creation of the interest." <u>Fallschase Development</u> <u>Corporation v. Blakey</u>, 696 So. 2d 833, 835 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). The purpose of the rule against perpetuities "is to ensure that property is reasonably available for development by prohibiting restraints that remove property from a beneficial use for an extended period of time." <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Iglehart, supra</u>). That concern is well exemplified in the present case where the right of first refusal, if valid, makes it extremely difficult to transfer not only Parcel 16 but the entire marina property for which it serves as the parking area. (T14: 36/23-37/6)

9

In 1979, two years after the Agreement was executed, the first codification of the rule against perpetuities in Florida became effective. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 689.22. After various amendments, the rule against perpetuities is codified today in Florida Statutes § 689.225.

The Agreement violated the rule against perpetuities as it existed when it was executed. That fact alone resolves the claims in this case. There is one case in Florida that is directly on point. See <u>Fallschase</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In <u>Fallschase</u>, a 1975 agreement purported to create a right of first refusal with respect to a piece of real property. <u>Id</u>. at 833-34. The plaintiff in <u>Fallschase</u>, just as in this case, was a successor-in-interest to one of the original parties to the agreement. <u>Id</u>. at 834. The plaintiff filed a declaratory judgment action in 1995, seeking a ruling that the agreement violated the rule against perpetuities and was, therefore, null and void. <u>Id</u>. The defendant, <u>Fallschase</u>, raised many of the issues raised here, including whether the original agreement was subject to reformation to make it conform to the rule against perpetuities, based upon the statutory codifications of the rule. <u>Id</u>. at 834-36. Ruling in favor of the property owner and finding the purported right of first refusal void *ab initio*, the First DCA discussed the same legal principles that apply here.

First, the common law rule against perpetuities applies to any interest created before codification of the rule. <u>Id</u>. at 834. Because the first codification of

the rule against perpetuities in Florida was not in effect until 1979, the agreement in <u>Fallschase</u> (and the one here) must be analyzed under the common law rule against perpetuities.

Next, the Fallschase court -- like other Florida courts applying the common law rule against perpetuities to rights of first refusal -- stated that when an agreement provides a right of first refusal to a named individual, the right is personal to that individual, who is the measuring life in being. Id.; Watergate Corporation v. Reagan, 321 So. 2d 133, 136 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975); Points v. Barnes, 301 So. 2d 102, 104 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974). Because such a property interest would vest, if at all, within that individual's lifetime, the interest would not violate the rule against perpetuities. See Fallschase at 835; Watergate at 136; Points at 104. On the other hand, when the agreement purportedly creates an unlimited duration for the exercise of the right of first refusal, the agreement violates the common law rule against perpetuities and is void ab initio. See Fallschase at 835-37 (an agreement creating a right of first refusal which was not personal to a named individual but instead attempted to bind the parties, their successors, and assigns, violated the rule against perpetuities).

In this case, the Agreement does not make the right of first refusal personal to a named individual. Instead, the Agreement purportedly grants the right of first refusal to the Association, a corporation. (App. C; P. Ex. 9) Thus, the Agreement created a right of first refusal of *unlimited duration*. An interest conveyed with reference to a corporation as the measuring life in being does not comply with the rule against perpetuities because a corporation may continue perpetually (and, therefore, is not certain to die). See Ferrero Construction Co. v. Dennis Rourke Corp., 536 A. 2d 1137, 1144 (Md. App. 1988); Stuart Kingston, supra, at 1383; Fitchie v. Brown, 211 U. S. 321, 334 (1908). Therefore, as the trial court ruled, the Agreement violated the common law rule against perpetuities, and the right of first refusal was void *ab initio*. Although the Association addressed Fallschase by arguing that the most recent change to the statute completely abolished the common law rule against perpetuities in 2000, that legislative action occurred 23 years after the Agreement ceased to exist and could not resurrect it. Because the Agreement was void *ab initio* – as opposed to voidable – it could not be restored to life by the codification of, or any other change to, the rule against perpetuities. The Association holds no valid right or interest in Parcel 16, and the Property Owners were properly awarded a declaration from the trial court to that effect.

B. <u>The Fourth DCA's Decision Cannot Be Reconciled with the</u> <u>Fallschase Decision or With the Law in Existence at the Time of</u> <u>the Agreement</u>

The Fourth DCA disagreed with the <u>Fallschase</u> analysis in two ways, only one of which was raised by the Association in this case. First, the Fourth DCA concluded that a right of first refusal vests at the moment of the agreement and is,

12

therefore, unaffected by any rule against perpetuities. (App. A at 2-3) The Association did not make that argument in this case. Second, the Fourth DCA concluded that the statutory codification of the rule against perpetuities should apply retroactively to revive the right of first refusal, even if it did violate the rule against perpetuities in 1977. (App. A at 4-6)

Although the Association did not make the argument, the Fourth DCA concluded that the right of first refusal "became vested from the moment of the Agreement" and thus did not "really involve any kind of remote vesting" that would implicate the rule against perpetuities. (App. A at 2-3) That analysis confuses the contract right (of first refusal) with the interest proscribed by the rule against perpetuities: remote vesting of an estate in real property. The rule against perpetuities is aimed at preventing remote vesting of an actual interest in property, and a contractual right of first refusal is not a vested estate in real property. See, e.g., Black's Law Dictionary, 8th Ed. (2004), 829, 1595 ("vested interest" is "an interest the right to the enjoyment of which, either present or future, is not subject to the happening of a condition precedent" and is an interest that is "consummated in a way that *will* result in future possession and use.") (emphasis added); Watergate Corporation, supra, at 136 (right of first refusal vests only when seller elects to transfer the subject property).

13

Whatever interest in real property might someday have arisen from the 1977 right of first refusal, it was not vested in 1977. That is so because it was not yet certain to occur; it was subject to a significant contingency: the Property Owners would have to decide to sell the property and offer it for sale to a third party. See Fallschase, 696 So. 2d at 837 (right of first refusal cannot vest until the property owner decides to sell the property) (internal citation omitted); Watergate Corporation, supra, at 136; Stuart Kingston, Inc. v. Robinson, 596 A. 2d 1378, 1384 (Del. 1991) ("because the holder of the right of first refusal acquires merely an equitable interest, it remains inchoate until the owner decides to sell thus triggering the right of first refusal"). Because those conditions must be satisfied before a vested estate or interest in real property would arise in the Association, no vesting occurred at the time of the Agreement, and the rule against perpetuities applied.

In arriving at its conclusion about vesting, the Fourth DCA relied upon case authority that was not cited to the court by either of the parties. That case was this Court's decision in <u>Iglehart v. Phillips</u>, 383 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1980). (App. A at 2) The Fourth DCA concluded that <u>Iglehart</u> says the rule against perpetuities does not apply to a right of first refusal. (Id.) However, that misconstrues the <u>Iglehart</u> decision. In fact, in <u>Iglehart</u>, this Court recognized that the rule against perpetuities is aimed at preventing remote vesting of estates in real property. <u>Id</u>. at

614. Moreover, <u>Iglehart</u> did not decide whether the right of first refusal at issue was subject to the rule against perpetuities:

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