### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## OLD PORT COVE HOLDINGS, INC., and OLD PORT COVE EQUITIES, INC.,

#### Petitioners

v.

### OLD PORT COVE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION ONE, INC.,

#### **Respondent.**

#### **CASE NO.: SC07-1032**

#### L.T. NO.: 4D05-3601

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

DANIEL S. ROSENBAUM Florida Bar No. 306037 RICHARD VALUNTAS Florida Bar No. 0151084 JOHN M. SIRACUSA Florida Bar No. 0159670 BECKER & POLIAKOFF, P.A. 625 North Flagler Drive 7th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 655-5444

# **

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

The Marina argues that the Fourth District's opinion in this case improperly

concluded that the majority in Fallschase made no attempt "to identify the rights that are vested and show how they would be impaired by the retroactive application of the statute." Old Port Cove, 954 So. 2d at 745-746. According to the Marina, the Fallschase majority "identified as a vested property right the owner's freedom to convey the property without the impediment of an unlawful first refusal right." (IB. 16). The majority in Fallschase, however, did not cite any authority holding that an owner has a vested right to declare a right of first refusal, which was voluntarily entered into, invalid under the common law rule against perpetuities. In fact, Judge Wolf reached a contrary conclusion and stated he was "unaware of a vested right to have a court strike down an obligation voluntarily undertaken as part of an enforceable written legal agreement." Fallschase, 696 So. 2d at 838 (Wolf, J., dissenting). Accordingly, the Fourth District properly concluded that "[u]nless courts are determined to indulge a fiction that parties to such an agreement have a vested interest in secretly intending the agreement to be void when made – thereby deceiving the other party – repeal of the common law rule making such agreements void by itself does not impair any vested interests."

Old Port Cove, 954 So. 2d at 745.

## D. <u>The Fourth District Properly Held that Section 689.225 of</u> <u>the Florida Statutes Applied Retroactively; the Trial Court</u> <u>Improperly Rejected the Association's Defenses in this Case</u>

Section 689.225 of the Florida Statutes Applies Retroactively

The Marina argues that the current version of section 689.225(7) of the Florida Statutes, originally enacted in 2000, is inapplicable in this case because the Agreement was executed in February of 1977. According to the Marina, "because the Agreement violated the common law rule against perpetuities applicable in 1977, it was void *ab initio*." (IB. 18). This argument must fail because, as explained above, the Marina does not cite any authority holding that the common law rule against perpetuities, as it existed on July 4, 1776, was ever applied to a right of first refusal in a commercial transaction. § 2.01, Fla. Stat. (adopting the common law of England as it existed on July 4, 1776).

The common law rule against perpetuities "was developed to curb excessive dead-hand control of property retained in families through intergenerational transfers." Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes) § 3.3, comment b. Since the Agreement in this case does not involve any type of "dead-hand control of property," it is doubtful that "the common law rule against perpetuities ever applied to this kind of right of first refusal." <u>Old Port Cove</u>, 954 So. 2d at 743; <u>Ferrero Constr. Co. v. Dennis Rourke Corp.</u>, 536 A.2d 1137, 584-585 (Md. 1988)(Cole, J., dissenting)("I believe that a right of first refusal does not hinder the alienability, marketability, or development of property and therefore conclude that the rule against perpetuities should not apply."). Furthermore, this Court has previously held:

For a principle of law to be governed by the common law in Florida, that principle must have existed as part of the common and statutory law of England on July 4, 1776, and must not be inconsistent with the constitution and laws of the United States or the acts of the legislature of this State. See § 2.01, Fla. Stat. In addition, the common law principle, as it existed on July 4, 1776, must have been 'clear and free from doubt.'

State ex rel. Clayton v. Board of Regents, 635 So. 2d 937, 938 (Fla. 1994)(emphasis added).

In this case, the Marina does not cite any authority holding that a right of first refusal in a commercial transaction, similar to the one in the Agreement, violated the common law of England on July 4, 1776. In fact, it appears that the English courts did not address such an issue until the late nineteenth century. See Robertson, 510 So. 2d at 182. Whether the common law rule against perpetuities applied to a right of first refusal on July 4, 1776 is not "clear and free from doubt," as evidenced by the conflict among the courts addressing the issue. See Old Port Cove, 954 So. 2d at 744-745; Fallschase, 696 So. 2d at 837; Bortolotti, 866 N.E.2d 882; Weber v. State, 83 F.2d at 808; Ferrero Constr. Co., 536 A.2d 1137; Birmingham Canal Co., (L.R.) 11 Ch.Div. (Eng.) 421; London and S.W. Co., 20 Ch.Div. (Eng.) 562. Since the Marina does not cite, and the Association's research has not uncovered, any clear and unambiguous pronouncement that the common law rule against perpetuities applied to rights of first refusal in commercial transactions on July 4, 1776, the Marina's assertion that the Agreement violated the common law rule against perpetuities, and was void *ab initio*, must fail. <u>See</u> <u>Duval v. Thomas</u>, 114 So. 2d 791, 794-795 (Fla. 1959)("We are not advised, and our own research has not divulged the clear, unambiguous pronouncement of the common law in effect 4 July 1776, that would leave us no room but to adopt it in this cause under the mandate of Sec. 2.01"); <u>State ex rel. Clayton</u>, 635 So. 2d at 938; <u>Donnelly v. United States</u>, 228 U.S. 243, 278 (1913)(Holmes, J., dissenting)("the English cases since the separation of the two countries do not bind us").

According to the Marina, the Fourth District erroneously applied section 689.225(7) of the Florida Statutes retroactively in this case. (IB. 21-24). The decisions in <u>Old Port Cove</u>, <u>Fallschase</u>, and <u>Sander</u>, however, all acknowledge that the Florida Legislature intended section 689.225 to apply retroactively. Section 689.225(7) is unambiguous, and now constitutes "the sole expression of any rule against perpetuities or remoteness in vesting in this state. No common-law rule against perpetuities or remoteness in vesting shall exist with respect to any interest or power regardless of whether such interest or power is governed by this section." § 689.225(7), Fla. Stat. Despite this clear legislative mandate, the Marina contends that section 689.225(7) cannot be applied retroactively because it purportedly violates the Marina's "substantive property rights."

Contrary to the Marina's contention, section 689.225(7) does not infringe

upon the Marina's purported "freedom to dispose of Parcel 16 to whomever the Property Owners choose, without the impediment of the right to first refusal." (IB. 23). In fact, Judge Wolf acknowledged that he was "unaware of a vested right to have a court strike down an obligation voluntarily undertaken as part of an enforceable written legal agreement." Fallschase, 696 So. 2d at 838 (Wolf, J., dissenting). Furthermore, as the Fourth District stated, "[u]nless courts are determined to indulge a fiction that parties to such an agreement have a vested interest in secretly intending the agreement to be void when made – thereby deceiving the other party – repeal of the common law rule making such agreements void by itself does not impair any vested interests." Old Port Cove, 954 So. 2d at 745. Since the Marina has not cited any authority holding that a right of first refusal in a commercial transaction violated the common law rule against perpetuities as it existed on July 4, 1776, it is unclear how its "property rights" have been affected by the Fourth District's retroactive application of section 689.225. See Juliano & Sons Enters. v. Chevron, 593 A.2d 814 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1991)(statute abolished common law rule against perpetuities, and nondonative commercial transaction was no longer subject to the common law rule).

The Marina's final argument on this point is that section 689.225(7) should not be applied retroactively because statutes in derogation of the common law must be strictly construed so they "do not displace the common law any more than is plainly necessary." (IB. 23). This argument must fail because, as discussed above, the common law rule against perpetuities as it existed on July 4, 1776 did not apply to rights of first refusal in commercial transactions. Although the First District's decision in <u>Fallschase</u> did not directly address this matter, the Fourth District expressly stated "[w]e doubt that the common law rule against perpetuities ever applied to this kind of right of first refusal." <u>Old Port Cove</u>, 954 So. 2d at 743. Section 689.225(7) is not a "statute in derogation of the common law" as it exists in Florida, and the Marina's argument on this matter is without merit.

# The Trial Court Erroneously Concluded that the Association's Defenses of Laches, Estoppel, and Waiver were Inapplicable

Although the Association's equitable defenses were not addressed in the <u>Old</u> <u>Port Cove</u> opinion, the issue was raised in the Marina's Initial Brief. (IB. 25-26). Therefore, the Association will briefly respond to the issue.

The Marina's argument on this issue is flawed because it assumes that "the common law rule against perpetuities applied in 1977 to void the right of first refusal." (IB. 25). However, as discussed above, the Marina does not cite any authority holding that the common law rule against perpetuities, as it existed on July 4, 1776, was ever applied to a right of first refusal in a commercial transaction. Since the application of the common law rule against perpetuities to

rights of first refusal in commercial transactions was not "clear and free from doubt" on July 4, 1776, the right of first refusal in the Agreement did not violate Florida law in any way. <u>See State ex rel. Clayton</u>, 635 So. 2d at 938; § 2.01, Fla. Stat.

Contrary to the Marina's assertion, the Association's equitable defenses were applicable in this case. The Second District's decision in Sarasota County v. Taylor Woodrow Homes Ltd., 652 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), is instructive on this point. In Sarasota County, the trial court determined on the pleadings that Sarasota County's 1974 agreement with Taylor Woodrow Homes was void ab *initio* because the agreement violated the Constitution as an unlawful taking. Id. The Second District held that a 1974 contract could not be declared void (even for a Constitutional violation) in the 1990's based merely on the pleadings. Id. at 1251. The Second District reasoned that although the judiciary will generally not allow a governmental agency to take private property without due process of just compensation, it is equally true, however, that a party to a contract is expected to abide by the terms of the contract, "especially if it executed the agreement without protest twenty years ago and has accepted the benefits of the contract." Id. at 1250.

The opinion in <u>Sarasota County</u> concluded that, under the circumstances, Sarasota County had the right to raise defensive equitable issues in the nature of waiver and estoppel. <u>Id</u>. Accordingly, the trial court in this case could not find in 2005 that the Agreement entered into in 1977 was void without at least considering the Association's equitable defenses. <u>See id.</u>; <u>see also McNulty v. Blackburn</u>, 42 So. 2d 445 (Fla. 1949)(fireman was estopped from claiming that a 1941 Fireman's Pension Fund was unconstitutional after accepting its benefits for more than six years); <u>Steen v. Scott</u>, 198 So. 489 (Fla. 1940)(married woman who accepted rent from a lessee for years was estopped from later challenging the validity of the lease on the grounds her notary failed to certify that the wife acknowledged execution of the lease "separate and apart from her husband" as was then required by statute); Lipkin v. Bonita Gardens Apartments, Inc., 122 So. 2d 623 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960).

It is a fundamental equitable principle that once a party accepts the proceeds and benefits of a contract, that party is equitably estopped from challenging the validity of the contract or otherwise repudiating the burdens of the contract. <u>Head</u> <u>v. Lane</u>, 495 So. 2d 821, 824 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1986); <u>Fineberg v. Kline</u>, 542 So. 2d 1002, 1003 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). "[T]he law is too well settled to admit of controversy that one may not accept the fruits of a contract and at the same time renounce, or repudiate, the burdens which that contract places upon him." <u>Warren</u> <u>v. Tampa Mortgage Investors' Co.</u>, 112 Fla. 555, 563 (Fla. 1933). The Marina and/or their former partners in the OPCI Joint Venture, Ecclestone and Acer Holdings, accepted the benefits of the Agreement. They cannot accept the benefits of the Agreement and then repudiate their obligations after enjoying the benefits of the Agreement for the last twenty-five (25) years. Given the Marina's unreasonable twenty-five (25) year delay in bringing its claims, its (and/or its predecessors') acceptance of the benefits of the Agreement and the resulting prejudice to the Association, the trial court erred in not finding the Marina's claims barred by the equitable doctrines of laches, as well as waiver and equitable estoppel.

#### The Trial Court Erroneously Concluded that the Association was not Entitled to Reformation of the Agreement under Section 689.225(6)(c)

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the Agreement violated Florida's rule against perpetuities as it existed prior to October 1, 1988, which it does not, the trial court should have reformed the Agreement pursuant to section 689.225(6)(c) of the Florida Statutes in the manner that most closely approximates the grantor's plan of distribution and does not violate any rule against perpetuities. According to the applicable Florida Statutes:

> If a nonvested property interest or a power of appointment was created before October 1, 1988, and is determined in a judicial proceeding commenced on or after October 1, 1988, to violate this state's rule against perpetuities as that rule existed before October 1, 1988, a court, upon the petition of an interested person, may reform the disposition in the manner that most closely approximates the transferor's manifested plan of distribution and is within the limits of the rule against

perpetuities when the nonvested property interest or power of appointment was created.

§ 689.225(6)(c), Fla. Stat.

For example, the right of first refusal could be reformed so that it must vest, if at all, within the lifetime of Ecclestone plus twenty-one (21) years. Even if Section 689.225(6)(c) was not retroactive to 1977 and the parties' "mistake" in not complying with the rule against perpetuities was one of law, and not one of fact, reformation of the Agreement would nonetheless as a matter of law be appropriate because the mistake concerned the private rights of the parties involved. <u>Atchison v. Englewood</u>, 193 Colo. 367, 373 (1977)(reforming right of first refusal to comply with Colorado's rule against perpetuities). A mistake as to private rights may be treated as a mistake of fact. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, assuming that the Agreement violated Florida's common law rule against perpetuities, the trial court improperly refused to reform the Agreement pursuant to section 689.225(6)(c) of the Florida Statutes.

#### POINT II

#### THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION IN THIS CASE DID NOT IMPROPERLY FAIL TO INSTRUCT ON REFORMATION.

The only issue raised in the Marina's Brief on Jurisdiction is the alleged conflict between the Fourth District's opinion in this case and the First District's decision in <u>Fallschase</u>. (JB. 3-10). The issue raised in Point III of the Marina's

Initial Brief was not raised in its Brief on Jurisdiction and is beyond the scope of the conflict issue. Therefore, the Court should decline to address the issue raised in Point III of the Initial Brief because the Marina never raised the issue before the Fourth District, and it is outside the scope of the conflict certified by the Court. See Williams v. State, 863 So. 2d 1189, 1190 (Fla. 2003); Farrior v. Farrior, 736 So. 2d 1177, 1179 (Fla. 1999); Asbell v. State, 715 So. 2d 258, 258 (Fla. 1998).

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